RECEIVED

Dec 06 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2022-UP-340 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed August 17, 2022)

Lower Court Case No. 2017-GS-42-02256

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AMY N. TAYLOR,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001117

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion when it redefined the term household member under the domestic violence statute which drastically narrowed the time frame that the circuit court considered in determining whether Petitioner showed a “long-term history” of domestic abuse sufficient to satisfy the standard required by S.C. Code Ann. §16-25-90 and where the ruling of the circuit court was not supported by the evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 7, 2019, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for one count of murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 266. The State, represented by Eddie Hunter and Hope Coleman-Hicks, called the case to trial before the Honorable Lee Alford and a jury on June 24, 2019. R. 1. Beverly Jones represented Petitioner. R. 1.

On the third day of trial, Petitioner entered a guilty plea to one count of murder. R. 42-54. The following day, Judge Alford sentenced Petitioner to forty-five years' imprisonment. R. 59-60. On June 28, 2019, a hearing was held to determine if Petitioner qualified for the one-fourth parole eligibility as a victim of domestic violence pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90. R. 61-262. Judge Alford ruled that Petitioner had not met her burden of proof and was therefore not entitled to one-quarter parole eligibility pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90. R. 247-262.

Following the conclusion of that hearing, Petitioner moved for a sentence reconsideration. R. 262, ll. 8-16. Judge Alford reduced Petitioner's sentence to thirty-five years' imprisonment. R. 263-265. On July 2, 2019, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. At the direction of the Court of Appeals, Petitioner filed an explanation of the appeal pursuant to Rule 203 (d)(1)(B), SCACR, on July 17, 2019, and the direct appeal proceeded.

Final briefing by the parties was completed in October 2020. The parties appeared before the Court of Appeals for oral argument on May 12, 2022. On August 17, 2022, the Court of Appeals affirmed the ruling of the circuit court in an unpublished *per curiam* opinion. See State v. Taylor, Op. No. 2022-UP-340 (Ct. App. filed August 17, 2022). A petition for rehearing was filed on September 1, 2022. The Court of Appeals issued an order denying rehearing on October 20, 2022. This Petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown. State v. Laney, 367 S.C. 639, 643, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012) (quoting State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011)). The appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 583, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion when it redefined the term household member under the domestic violence statute which drastically narrowed the time frame that the circuit court considered in determining whether Petitioner showed a “long-term history” of domestic abuse sufficient to satisfy the standard required by S.C. Code Ann. §16-25-90 and where the ruling of the circuit court was not supported by the evidence.

Relevant Facts

Amy and Sprouse’s Relationship

Petitioner, Amy Taylor (hereinafter Amy), first met the decedent, James Sprouse (Sprouse), in 1999 when she was fourteen years old. At that time, Sprouse worked for Jason Lyda¹ in an automotive repair garage. R. 102, ll. 12-20. Sprouse was twenty-five-years Amy’s senior. R. 5, ll. 18-19; R. 103, ll. 5-9. Despite the significant difference in their ages, Amy and Sprouse became friends. The two worked together at the garage over the course of many years. R. 105, ll. 6-11. In 2010, Amy and Sprouse began a sexual affair that spanned several years. R. 108, l. 7-R. 109, l. 14.

During 2012, Amy, her second husband,² and their children were evicted from their home due to financial problems. Sprouse offered them a place to stay. R. 104, l. 21-R. 105, l. 17. For approximately six months the two families lived together in a two-bedroom trailer before Amy

¹ Jason Lyda was Amy’s first husband. They were married in North Carolina, with parental consent, when Amy was fifteen years old. Together they had one child, Destiny Lyda, who was charged as an accessory in the death of Sprouse. Lyda and Amy divorced in 2003, after Lyda attempted to kill Amy and Destiny. He was ultimately convicted of criminal domestic violence. The marriage lasted roughly three years. R. 103, l. 10-R. 104, l. 8; R. 147, ll. 9-23.

² Amy married her second husband, Kenny Taylor, a few years after divorcing Lyda. Together they had two daughters, one born in 2005 and the second born in 2011. R. 57-58; R. 104-107.

and her family were able to find a new place to stay. Amy and her family ended up moving back in with Sprouse and his wife in 2014. R. 106, l. 7-R. 107, l. 13. During this period, Amy and Sprouse continued their affair. R. 109, ll. 2-5. Eventually, the marriages of Amy and Sprouse ended. Amy's husband moved out of the trailer after two months. R. 107, ll. 14-21. Sprouse's wife left in August of 2016. R. 108, ll. 3-4. After their respective spouses moved out of the trailer, Amy and Sprouse began to live together openly as a couple. R. 108, l. 24-R. 109, l. 14.

In addition to having a romantic relationship with Sprouse, Amy also acted as his caretaker, particularly in the last two years of his life. R. 110, ll. 15-17; R. 169, ll. 2-9. Amy coordinated and accompanied Sprouse to doctor's appointments, gave him his various medications, and took care of the home. R. 112, ll. 5-23; R. 169, ll. 5-9. Sprouse suffered from various health problems including COPD, diabetes, and heart problems for which he had undergone open heart surgery. R. 188, ll. 10-17. Both Sprouse and Amy abused Sprouse's Percocet and Xanax prescriptions. Sometimes Amy purchased additional pills from an acquaintance to support their addiction. R. 125, l. 13-126, l. 12.

Amy described Sprouse as a paranoid man with a "very nasty temper" that got worse as his health declined. Sprouse had threatened to shoot Amy and had struck her in the past. He would threaten to "put a cap in people's asses" that owed him money as well as "put a cap" in Amy's family's ass. He also threatened to shoot up the house they shared with Amy's children. Sprouse had numerous guns that he kept in the home and others that were stored off-property. R. 115, l. 17-R.117, l. 17. Sprouse had a "violent streak" that Amy feared. App. 126, ll. 22-App. 127, l. 2.

Amy testified that the first time that Sprouse struck her was many years into their relationship. They had been in the garage working when something Amy said angered Sprouse.

Sprouse struck Amy in her face with enough force to knock her off of the table she was sitting on. Amy suffered a broken tooth and facial bruises as a result of the incident. R. 118, l. 1-R. 119, l. 16.

Another time, Sprouse struck her in the face for being a “smart aleck” to him while they were in their bedroom and the children were at school. She thought that incident occurred sometime after August of 2016. R. 120, ll. 1-23. Sometime after that, while trying to find keys for a metal safe, Sprouse again became angry with Amy and dropped the safe down on her feet. As a result, she suffered some broken toes and numerous bruises. R. 121, ll. 4-19. Sprouse even threw Amy against the interior wall of their trailer in late 2016 or early 2017. R. 117, ll. 18-24. Amy had bruises along her chest, side and leg that her eldest daughter, Destiny, observed after the incident. R. 122, l. 14-R.123, l. 5. She also testified that Sprouse punched her in the knee while they were in bed and that was when she moved to sleep on the couch. R. 121, l. 25-R. 122, l. 1. Amy confided in her eldest daughter, Destiny, and in an acquaintance, Virginia “Ginger” Teague, about certain instances of physical abuse she had suffered at the hands of Sprouse. R. 123, l. 4-R.125, l. 7

Amy described not only the physical abuse inflicted upon her by Sprouse but mental and emotional abuse as well. Sprouse threatened to “shoot up” the house or “pop a cap in somebody’s ass” and boasted that he was not afraid of going back to jail. R. 126, l. 23-R. 127, l. 2. He repeatedly threatened to kick Amy and her children out of the home when they had nowhere else to go. R. 80, ll. 11-13; R. 125, l. 9-10. He threatened to beat Amy’s “ass” and to shoot her and her children if she ever tried to leave. R. 117, ll. 16-17; R. 150, ll. 21-23.

Sprouse’s Death

On March 2, 2017, the day before Sprouse's death, Sprouse became angry and accused Amy of taking some of his pills. During the argument, Sprouse grabbed a gun and shot in the direction of Amy, leaving bullet holes in the wall. R. 127, l. 14-R, 128, l. 2. Amy texted their neighbor, Michael Head, and told him that Sprouse had "shot up" the house. When Sprouse learned that Amy had told Head what had happened, he became even more angry and told her in a text that "what I do here is no damn body business." R. 40-41; R. 128, ll. 3-18.

That night, Amy slept on the couch with her youngest daughter. Throughout the night, Sprouse paced through the trailer, mumbling and cursing. Amy heard Sprouse repeatedly say "I'm going to get you" and "I'm gonna kill you, bitch" as he moved through the home that evening. R. 128-130. Sprouse's words and actions that evening left Amy in fear for her life. She believed that Sprouse has "flipped his gourd" and she did not know what he was going to do to her. R. 128, ll. 11-12; R. 129, ll. 21-22.

After a stressful and fear-filled evening, Amy awoke the next morning afraid of what Sprouse might do to her and her children. R. 128-129. Amy entered the bedroom and was walking to the closet when she noticed the gun sitting in the top drawer of a chest of drawers next to the bed. Sprouse was in the bed talking, and as Amy walked by, he leaned toward chest of drawers and extended his arm. Amy thought that Sprouse was reaching for the gun and was going to kill her. She grabbed the gun and shot Sprouse, killing him. R. 130; R. 138-139.

The Police Investigation

On March 4, 2017, the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office received a call from James Fowler. Fowler stated that his son, Anthony Fowler,³ had just told him that his "girlfriend's

³ Anthony, who was nineteen, was dating Petitioner's daughter Destiny, who was sixteen, at the time of the incident. Anthony was also living in a camper on Petitioner and Sprouse's property at the time of the incident. R.74-75; R.85

mom had shot her boyfriend.” Fowler said his son told him that there was “blood all over the place and bullet holes in the walls.” Anthony told his father that the police had been called. However, because the coroner was busy, Anthony said they had been instructed to place the body of the boyfriend in a tarp and move him out of the home into a field. R. 2, 1.11-R. 3, 1. 16.

Deputies responded to Amy and Sprouse’s home to perform a welfare check. R. 6, 1. 7-R. 7, 11. 16. They spoke with Amy and were given permission to walk through the mobile home. R. 8, 11. 7-15. Inside, deputies observed fresh spackling on the living room wall and what appeared to be blood on the floor and walls of the back bedroom. They also saw that the box spring was on its side, the mattress was not in the trailer, the bedding was in a number of trash bags, and there were latex gloves and cleaning supplies on the dresser. R. 8, 1. 17-R. 9, 1. 2. Based on those observations, the deputies called for investigators to respond to the scene. R. 22, 11. 8-24.

Investigators arrived on scene and discovered the body of Sprouse wrapped in a tarp, roughly two to three hundred yards into the woods. R. 23, 11. 7-14. Amy, Destiny, and Anthony Fowler were separately transported to the Sherriff’s office to be interviewed. Search warrants were drawn and executed at the mobile home and on the various vehicles found at the property. R. 10, 11. 20-22; R. 12, 11. 6-10; R. 13, 11. 2-8. Law enforcement also received consent to search the cellphones of Amy, Destiny and Anthony. R. 27, 11. 15-20; R. 28, 11. 17-20.

The investigation concluded that Sprouse had been shot and killed on the previous morning, March 3, 2017. R. 267. Amy gave various versions of the events leading up to the death of Sprouse before eventually telling police that Sprouse had beaten her, she was afraid of him, and that she had shot him because she thought he was going to kill her. R. 16-21.

The Expert Testimony of Dr. Lois Veronen

Dr. Loise Veronen is a clinical psychologist who has devoted her career to the research of how violence or traumatic events impact the functioning of women. R. 155, l. 1-156, l. 8. In the legal field this area of study is often referred to as Battered Women's Syndrome. R. 157, ll. 12-20. The court qualified Veronen as an expert in "clinical psychology with research, variance in victims of violence." R. 157, ll. 4-9.

Veronen testified that abuse manifests in many forms, **not just physical violence**. She identified threats of violence, verbal abuse, threats against family members, control of contacts, and isolation as forms of emotional or mental abuse. She stated that any of these forms of abuse can be used to batter or control a woman. R. 159, ll. 2-10. In describing how fear and anxiety can impact the reaction of a victim of violence Veronen stated:

In general, what we find is that **people who have had those kinds of histories, they become sensitized to potential for violence**. So they may recognize small cues that somebody is going to be violent because they have this intimate association and knowledge of them. You know, could be the change in the voice tone. That means that violence is imminent. Or it could be, you know, movement toward. But **women who have a close, intimate relationship [with their abuser] usually are generally more attuned to when violence is imminent** ... their reaction may be, you know, quicker than it would be. **Other people might not view it as the same threat**, but because of their close association with that individual, they may view it as very threatening. Their state of mind is different potentially than, you know, how another person might view it.

R. 177, l. 10-R.178, l. 2 (emphasis added).

Veronen met with Amy and interviewed her over the course of three days and eight or nine hours. R. 181, ll. 17-23. She performed various psychological and personality tests and conducted a lengthy clinical interview with Amy. R. 165, l. 7-R. 166, l. 17. Veronen stated that the tests were designed to catch attempts to manipulate them, and she believed Amy was truthful

in her responses. R. 200, l. 20-R. 201, l. 25. The interview and tests revealed that Amy was suffering from identifiable substance abuse and multiple clinical diagnoses. R. 170, ll. 15-22. Further, the tests showed Amy had very poor self-esteem, severely impaired thinking, and poor reasoning skills. The “detailed assessment of posttraumatic stress inventory” showed that Amy had “**extremely high fear and terror**” from Sprouse shooting at her the day before she shot him. R. 171, ll. 4-10.

Veronen found that Amy and Sprouse had an extremely co-dependent relationship. R. 169, ll. 2-5. She stated that Amy was particularly dependent on Sprouse for drugs and for a place for her and her children to live, while Sprouse relied on Amy as a caretaker. R. 175, ll. 13-17. Veronen noted that Sprouse had even paid to have a drug arrest expunged from Amy’s records, following a 2014 arrest, but then continued to give Amy drugs to support her habit. R. 186, ll. 16-23. She stated that Amy likely did not exercise “options or opportunities” to leave the relationship, call the police, or do other things to remove herself from the situation because of how co-dependent the relationship was. R. 175, ll. 10-19.

Veronen concluded that Amy had suffered multiple events of a violent nature and a very traumatic event of being shot at on the day prior to Sprouse’s death. R. 174, ll. 18-23. Based on the data from the tests and the clinical interview, Veronen opined that Amy’s perception of danger posed by Sprouse on the morning of March 3, 2017, was highly significant and that Amy was “very, very fearful.” R. 175, ll. 2-5. When Amy fired the gun, she was in a “high state of fear and anxiety ... in a state of fear, terror, for herself and her children.” R. 175, l. 23-R. 176, l. 2. Given Amy’s history, and the incident where Sprouse fired a gun at her the evening before, Veronen determined that Amy’s response the morning Sprouse was killed was reasonable. R. 176, ll. 8-10.

The State, after having its expert review Veronen's testing data, reports, and findings, focused its cross-examination on minor errors in her report, such as the age of Sprouse at the time of his death or the number of years in age between Amy and Sprouse. R. 182, ll. 18-24; R. 186, l. 13-R. 187, l. 8. The State confirmed that all of the information Veronen received was from the discovery materials and her meetings with Amy. R. 200, ll. 1-7. Veronen also stated that Amy knew the purpose of the meetings with Veronen was to determine Amy's "history of victimization and the nature of her relationship" with Sprouse which could potentially be used as a defense or mitigation during Amy's trial. R. 190, ll. 8-21.

Testimony of Other Witnesses at the Domestic Violence One-Quarter Parole Eligibility Hearing

In addition to Amy and Dr. Veronen, defense counsel also called Virginia Lee Teague and Destiny Lyda to testify during the one-quarter parole eligibility hearing. Teague testified that she and Amy became friends when Amy was married to her second husband. She had known Amy for about ten years, and at the beginning of their friendship, Amy would sometimes watch her daughter for her. When asked about her relationship with Amy in the years leading up to Sprouse's death, Teague admitted she only had periodic contact with Amy. Teague testified, "I wouldn't say we were friends, but I wouldn't say we weren't friends. Like, we were acquaintances." Eventually, Teague became someone Amy would purchase prescription pills from. R. 62, l. 1-R. 63, l. 22.

Teague recalled two times, in the roughly eight weeks before Sprouse's death, that Amy had come to her home to get pills with visible injuries. Once, Amy had a bruise on her face, and the second time Amy had broken toes. Amy told her that the injuries were from Sprouse hitting her and causing her injuries. R. 64, ll. 5-25. Amy told Teague that Sprouse had shot live rounds

in the house and said, “if I end up dead you know who did it.” When Teague asked Amy why she did not leave Sprouse, Amy told her she had nowhere else to go. R. 65, l. 6-R. 66, l. 25. Teague testified that she never saw anything happen, that she did not know Sprouse personally, but she had heard nice things about him. R. 72, ll. 4-7.

Destiny testified that when her mother and Sprouse would argue, she would take her younger sisters inside of her bedroom to shelter them from what was happening. R. 79, l. 1-21. While Destiny never saw Sprouse be physically violent toward her mother, she would hear Sprouse threaten to hit her mother and threaten to kick them all out of his trailer but keep all of their personal belongings. R. 80, ll. 11-16; R. 94, ll. 1-9. Destiny also heard Sprouse loudly talk about his guns and angrily threaten to shoot people, including his ex-wife, stating he would “blow a cap in their ass.” R. 80, l. 19-R. 82, l. 15. She also heard Sprouse state that he had been to jail before, that he was not “scared to go to jail,” and that if they called the police it would not matter because “he had connections and would be able to get out.” R. 82, l. 16-R. 83, l. 1.

Destiny stated her mother told her about Sprouse hitting her sometimes. R. 93, ll. 4-7. Once, Destiny saw bruises along her mother’s side and chest, and when she asked what had happened, Amy said she ran into the side of table. However, Destiny did not think her mother was telling her what really happened. R. 83, ll. 15-24. In the last few months of his life, Destiny saw Sprouse become more moody, yelling and frightening Destiny. She also stated that Sprouse would use his size to intimidate them. R. 86, l. 23-R. 87, l. 16.

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