RECEIVED

Jan 05 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
The Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

AMY N. TAYLOR,.....PETITIONER

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
Appellate Case No. 2019-001117

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 65282
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1529
Phone No. (803) 734-6305

Barry Barnette

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

ARGUMENT

- 1. The Court of Appeals did not err in their decision to deny Petitioner parole eligibility due to the fact the trial court based their decision pursuant to Section 16-25-90 of the South Carolina Code of Laws whereby the Petitioner failed to prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence. The fact that the trial court did not consider her a “household member” until they began a relationship was irrelevant because this was not a reason for the trial court’s decision. The trial court thought the Petitioner was not credible, so she failed to meet her burden of proof which is necessary to receive parole eligibility.**

Relevant Facts

The Petitioner requested a hearing for the trial court to determine whether she could be considered a person who had endured long term domestic violence at the hands of the victim. At the conclusion of this hearing the trial court first determined that the Petitioner and victim were

only household members for the course of seven months so that should not be considered long term. However, the trial court made their ruling based on the Petitioner failing to satisfy her burden of proof. Petitioner claims that the trial court erred in deciding that the Petitioner can only considered a household member for about months when they were in a more open relationship. However, this was not the basis for the Court's decision. The trial court denied the Petitioner's request for parole eligibility due to her failure to present credible evidence proving that she was a victim of long-term domestic abuse, which is required by statute.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown. *State v. Blackwell-Selim*, 392 S.C. 1, 3, 707 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2011). The appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. *State v. Winkler*, 388 S.C. 574, 583, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010). A defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence a history of domestic violence from the victim in order to be eligible for statutory early parole. *State v. Grooms*, 343 S.C. 248, 540 S.E.2d 99 (2000).

Discussion

The Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming trial court's decision that she did not prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence. The Petitioner argues that the trial court abuse its discretion in miscalculating when the Petitioner became a "household member." The State argues that the Court of Appeals was correct in their assessment of the trial court's decision. The trial court made their decision based on the total lack of evidence that was presented

failing to prove Petitioner was ever a victim of domestic violence. The determination of when she was a “household member” had absolutely no bearing on the trial court’s final decision.

Upon being sentenced after pleading guilty the Petitioner requested that the court decide she was a victim with a history of criminal domestic violence in order to receive parole eligibility.

Section 16-25-90 of the South Carolina Code of Laws specifically state:

Notwithstanding any provision of Chapters 13 and 21 of Title 24, and notwithstanding any other provision of law, an inmate who was convicted of, or pled guilty or nolo contendere to, an offense against a household member is eligible for parole after serving one-fourth of his prison term when the inmate at the time he pled guilty to, nolo contendere to, or was convicted of an offense against the household member, or in post-conviction proceedings pertaining to the plea or conviction, presented credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence, as provided in Section 16-25-20, suffered at the hands of the household member.

S.C. Code Ann. §16-25-90 (2004).

In order for the Petitioner to be granted parole eligibility she must have proven a history of domestic abuse at the hands of the victim by a preponderance of the evidence. A preponderance of the evidence is evidence which convinces as to its truth. *Gorecki v. Gorecki*, 387 S.C. 626, 633, 693 S.E.2d 419, 422 (2010).

Petitioner is of the opinion that since she got on the stand and said she suffered abuse that was sufficient to receive parole eligibility. However, the statute states that the evidence must be credible. The mere production of evidence does not automatically result in earlier parole eligibility; instead, the defendant must persuade the judge by presenting proof which leads the trier of fact to find that the existence of the contested fact is more probable than it is nonexistent. *Blackwell-Selim*, 392 S.C. at 4, 707 S.E.2d at 428.

The circuit court must make specific findings in ruling on parole eligibility or ineligibility under §16-26-90. *Id.* Prior to the trial court’s decision the trial court stated specific reasons why the Petitioner is not entitled to parole eligibility. And although the court he did state that they were

not household member until their relationship became public, this was not the reasoning he gave in denying parole eligibility. In his final decision the trial court specifically stated,

“I’m not convinced of the credibility of that and the truthfulness of it. And the reason is there’s no other evidence of it except – and she has told no one about it and no one else knows about it. And the first time anybody’s heard about it. And her credibility is certainly in question because she hasn’t been truthful about anything to be honest with you. And so, I discount that. I don’t think it should be considered at all.” (R. p. 249 l. 15-25).

The trial court has the ability to judge the credibility of witnesses. Credibility findings are treated like factual findings, and therefore, the appellate inquiry is limited to reviewing whether the trial court’s factual findings are supported by any evidence in the record. *State v. Banda*, 371 S.C. 245, 639 S.E.2d 36, 39 (2006). This determination of the lack of credibility is supported in the record.

The Petitioner gave three different stories to law enforcement about the incident. First, she told them that she had a miscarriage, that the victim got angry and drove to his mother’s house. (R. p. 16 l. 4-7). Second, she told them that she was in the bathroom and the victim came at her with a gun pointed behind a pillow, and that due to the fact he did not have on his glasses he accidentally shot himself. She then got the gun and shot the victim in the shoulder. (R. p. 20 lines 11-12). During the sentencing hearing she told her third story, that the victim was mumbling under his breath all night that he was going to kill her. The next morning while he was in bed, while the gun was on the bedroom dresser as he rolled over she thought he was going to reach for the gun, so she grabbed the gun and shot him. (R. p. 130 l. 7-9). The Petitioner not only lied to law enforcement, she lied to her daughter and her boyfriend. When her daughter begged her to call the police, she informed her that she did call the police and they informed her that the coroner could not get there, that they had to wrap the body themselves and take it out back into the woods. Through these lies, the Petitioner’s daughter and her boyfriend were brought into this situation causing them to receive charges for accessory to murder.

The trial court correctly did not take into consideration the initial stories of abuse given by the Petitioner. These events supposedly occurred prior to the time the victim and Petitioner's spouses had moved out of the residence. Allegedly, the first incident occurred in 2016 months before the murder. (R. p. 117 l. 23-24). Even though they were household members there exists no evidence of "long term" abuse. In *State v. Hawes*, 411 S.C. 188, 767 S.E.2d 707 (2015), this Court decided that "the legislative history of section 16-25-90 indicates that the statute was intended to confer that early parole eligibility only to **long-term** victims of repeated abuse at the hands of a household member." *Hawes*, 411 S.C. at 708, 767 S.E.2d at 190 n.2(emphasis added). The trial court was correct in determining that if there was any abuse it occurred not long before the event occurred so it cannot be considered "long-term" so the Petitioner cannot be given parole eligibility.

The Petitioner continues to raise as an argument that the trial court misapplied the term household member, thereby, narrowing the window of the abuse. The Petitioner contends that this abuse was going on prior to the time they became exclusive in 2016. The Petitioner is of the belief that she can just allege some possible abuse without any corroborating evidence and the trial court will automatically grant parole eligibility. In *State v. Grooms* this court decided:

Moreover, we find the legislature did not intend the mere production of evidence to automatically result in earlier parole eligibility. If that were the case, as appellant suggest, then all individuals who are convicted of an offense against household members would be eligible for parole after service of one-fourth of their prison term simply by testifying they suffered a history of criminal domestic violence at the hands of their own victims. Instead by enacting §16-25-90, the legislature intended a defendant who presents credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence, at the hands of her victim... to be eligible for parole after the service of one-fourth of her prison term.

Grooms, 343 S.C. at 253, 540 S.E.2d at 101.

The Petitioner failed to present any evidence corroborating these allegations of abuse. The trial judge simply did not find her credible. The trial judge certainly has that right. The decision was

never an abuse of discretion, it is the ability given to the Circuit Court by the legislature. The Court of Appeals made the proper determination regarding the review obligations of an appellate court. The appellate court is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown. *State v. Laney*, 367 S.C. 639, 643, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006).

The determination of the denial of parole eligibility was not determined by the fact the trial court did not define the Petitioner as a household member when the Petitioner believes he should have. The determination of the trial court was due to the lack of credibility. The trial court did not find the Petitioner credible, so the Court did not believe that the initial instances of domestic violence actually occurred. The trial court believed that if any abuse occurred, it started when they determined themselves exclusively a couple in 2016, only a matter of months prior to the incident date. The Petitioner argued that they were household members at the time they lived together in 2014. Petitioner testified that in early 2016 the victim slapped her off a chair in the garage, knocking out her tooth. (T. p. 117 l. 23 – p. 119 l. 16). There are no reports, nor hospital or dental records of this incident occurring. The trial court outwardly expressed its lack of belief in these incidents due to the lack of proof and the Petitioner's lack of credibility. During the hearing the trial court plainly stated, "I don't believe anything she said. She told so many stories to the police and made up so much stuff and everything. She's very good at that. But I just can't believe anything she said. She has no credibility with the court whatsoever." (R. p. 259 l. 11-15).

There was also evidence that was presented during the trial that the trial court rightfully took into consideration. With this evidence the trial court believed this murder was premeditated. During the trial, Investigator Lindsey McGraw, a computer forensics investigator for the Spartanburg Sheriff's Department, testified regarding certain searches that were found in the Petitioner's phone. The Investigator found within the Petitioner's phone searches for, "Does lime

help decompose dead animals?”, “What can you pour on dead animals to hurry up and make them disappear?”, “On a handgun when red is showing on the side, does it mean it’s on safety or off?”, “Undetectable poisons in autopsy”, “What is a way you can poison someone without it being traceable in blood stream?”, and “What do I do with a dead body?” (R. p. 30 l. 10 – p. 34 l. 13). These searches led the trial court to believe that this murder was premediated. When reciting his reasons for his decision the trial court stated:

“Now, on this – but she was, to a certain extent, this killing is premediated and in my opinion done with malice because she searched – I don’t know why she couldn’t realize with that phone, that they were going to be able to check it. I guess she didn’t think that far ahead. She was trying to find a way to kill him without it being detected. She wanted to get poison. How do I – how can I get poison, what poison can I get to kill somebody so it can’t be detected by a coroner or somebody? So that was premeditated. She was looking to kill him.:” (R. p. 257 l. 19 – p. 258 l. 4).

At the conclusion of the hearing the trial court issued its final decision. With this decision pursuant to *Grooms* the trial court made specific findings in ruling that the Petitioner is not entitled to parole eligibility. In his final decision the trial court ruled:

“So, I know why the statute is there, and I think it’s there for a good purpose. And if you look at the legislative history and intent, it was designed to help people who were victims of long-term repeated abuse at the hands of a household member.”

“And I don’t find credible evidence of any long-term domestic abuse by a partner who was able to put them in them in the home. I just don’t find it. There may be a little. There maybe some. The best example being somebody firing off a gun. There’s a question about how that was done.”

“It looks like he hit the safe in there, which was metal, and it wouldn’t – one of them went through. The rest of them bounced the wall and ricocheted out. There was none in the ceiling. Certainly, that would be evidence of, of domestic violence and cause somebody, somebody some fear. I would agree with that part of it. But that’s the only credible part that – in what she’s presented. And I don’t think it meets the test for long-term domestic abuse.”

“For that reason, I’m gonna deny your motion for early parole. And I think I’ve had time to dwell on it well enough to know. I’ve exercised all the discretion I have.” (R. p. 261 l. 5 – p. 262 l. 4).

The Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals failed to consider her argument regarding the misinterpretation of the term “household member.” The Court of Appeals instead determined that the trial court did not err due to the fact they made a reasonable decision regarding the credibility of the Petitioner. The Court of Appeals determined that the trial court did not err due to the fact the trial court has the ability to look at the evidence presented and determine if a witness is not credible, and if the Petitioner met her burden of proof. If the trial court determines that the burden of proof was not met then that court has the right to deny parole eligibility. This decision is not an abuse of discretion, so it is not reversible by the Court of Appeals.

The Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals failed to address their argument regarding the trial court's interpretation of household member. The Court of Appeals made a fair assessment of this case and made a determination from information that came directly from the record. The trial court made this decision due to the lack of credibility of the Petitioner. The decision of the trial court regarding when the Petitioner became a household member has no bearing on the final decision. The Court of Appeals rightfully did not address this since it had no bearing on the trial court's final decision. The Court of Appeals only addressed issues the trial court considered when making its final decision. The Court of Appeals rightfully affirmed the decision of the trial court. The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal. Rule 220(c) SCACR.

The Court of Appeals made the correct decision affirming the decision of the trial court. This decision is proven in prior case law; therefore, the decision of the Court of Appeals should not be subject to review by this Court.

CONCLUSION

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